## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI



# FILED

AKBAR BRINSMADE

٠.

1.

VERSUSNO. 2009-CA-1906

CITY OF BILOXI, MS

SEP 2'7 2010 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS APPELLANT

APPELLEE

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

## HONORABLE LISA DODSON, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

## ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT:

MALCOLM F. JONES P. O. BOX 908 GULFPORT, MS 39502 228-861-9368

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## AKBAR BRINSMADE

4

Ţ.

#### APPELLANT

VERSUSNO. 2009-CA-1906

CITY OF BILOXI, MS

APPELLEE

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

- 1. Akbar BrinsmadeAppellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE: Did the lower court err in affirming the decision of the City of Biloxi to unilaterally vacate and alter the plat for the Edgewater Cove Subdivision without Chancery Court approval and in violation of the applicable statutes setting forth certain procedures for such proceedings, particularly given Mr. Brinsmade's objection to the closure of the Road Access Easement?

ISSUE TWO: Did the lower court err as a matter of law by affirming the decision of the City of Biloxi authorizing the alteration and vacation of the subdivision plat and closure of the road easement when the decision was not supported by substantial evidence and/or it was arbitrary and capricious?

ISSUE THREE: Did the lower court err in failing to conclude the Court acted unlawfully when it closed the road easement and failed to consider the provisions of the City's Land Development Ordinance, which required that no street with a dead end or cul-de-sac shall be longer than 500 feet?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Akbar Brinsmade, is the record owner of the home and lot situated at 486 Channel Mark Drive, Biloxi, MS. This is also Lot 9 on the recorded plat of the Channel Mark Subdivision. Channel Mark Subdivision adjoins Edgewater Cove Subdivision. At consideration is the review of the decision of the governing authorities of the City of Biloxi, MS, upon the recommendation of their Planning Commission to vacate and alter a portion of the Edgewater Cove subdivision plat to close an unimproved thoroughfare between Lots 8 and 9 of the same subdivision.

The southeast corner of the the lot immediately adjacent and south of Mr. Brinsmade's lot in the Channel Mark Subdivision touches the northwest corner of the vacated access road easement at issue in the Edgewater Cove subdivision. Although his property does not abut the subject access road easement, the northwest corner of Mr. Brinsmade's lot is about one hundred feet (100 feet) from the vacated easement. There is no dispute that the road easement as shown on the plat for Channel Way was improved with curbs, gutters, and asphalt and in use by the public, but the adjoining road easement of the same width (which has now been vacated) was cleared when the subdivision was developed, but has not been improved by the City or used as a road easement since its inception.

When this matter came before the City Planning Commission upon a request by the City staff to vacate and close the road access easement the owners abutting the easement on Lots 8 and 9 of the Edgewater Cove Subdivision joined in and consented to the City's petition. Also, a substantial number of the residents in the surrounding neighborhood area also filed a petition in favor of the petition to vacate the road easement. In fact, Mr. Brinsmade was the only homeowner in the immediate area that was sent a notice of the proceedings by the City that strenuously objected to the proposed vacation of the road easement at the hearing before the Planning Commission.

At the conclusion of the hearing, on July 17, 2008, the Planning Commission approved the request of the City staff and recommended to the governing authorities of the City of Biloxi, MS, that the road easement be vacated. On September 14, 2008, Mr. Brinsmade filed a Declaratory Judgment action against the City of Biloxi, MS, and certain adjoining landowners of the road easement in the Chancery Court of Harrison County, MS, 2nd JD, In his Complaint Mr. Brinsmade requested the Court to adjudicate the subject road access easement had not been vacated and was still dedicated to the public for use. The Defendants filed responsive pleadings and counterclaims requesting a partial vacation of the the subject easement. The Defendants later withdrew their Answers and dismissed their counterclaims. The Chancery Court entered an Agreed Declaratory Judgment on September 16, 2008 and adjudicated the road easement still existed, was available for public use, and could not be used other than as a road easement until the subdivision plat was vacated in the manner provided by law.

Thereafter, on October 7, 2008, over the continued objection of Mr. Brinsmade the Biloxi City Council adopted a Resolution to vacate the subject road easement. Aggrieved by this decision the Appellant, Akbar Brinsmade, filed a Notice of Appeal and Bill of Exceptions to the Circuit Court of Harrison County, MS, 2nd JD on October 17, 2008. Upon a submission of briefs (and without further argument or hearing by agreement of all counsel) the Circuit Court entered a Judgment on Appeal dismissing the appeal and affirming the action of the City of Biloxi, MS in this regard. From this decision the Appellant has filed his appeal to this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Akbar Brinsmade and his wife are the owners of a single-family home in an upscale established neighborhood in Biloxi, MS, in a platted subdivision known as "Channel Mark Subdivision'. Their home is situated on Lot 9 of the subdivision and fronts on an improved and paved street, Channel Mark Drive. (See RE 37). Their back lot line and the platted drainage easement on the rear of their lot which also traverses the adjoining lot to the South, are approximately one hundred feet from the western margin of the unimproved "Road Access Easement" between Lots 8 and 9 in the adjoining Edgewater Cove Subdivision. Their property line is also 100 feet from the curb drainage in the improved street in their subdivision, known as Channel Way Road. (See copy of Subdivisions maps and tax map attached, RE 17-18). The Channel Way road easement in the Channel Mark Subdivision is improved and paved, as is the main intersecting street of the subdivision, Channel Mark Drive. (RE 37).

The "Road Access Easement" between Lots 8 and 9 in the Edgewater Cove Subdivision, which was clearly designated as a public road on the subdivision plat originally filed in about 1978, abuts the improved Channel Way Street and is the same width as that thoroughfare. (See RE 19, 60 and Subdivision Plat, RE 17). It is undisputed that the vacated "Road Access Easement" had not been improved or paved by the City. (See RE 20). However, at the Planning Commission hearing Dean Wilson, a former surveyor working for the original developer of the subdivision, stated that the "Road Access Easement" proposed to be vacated was created as a "emergency" or "fire access" for the adjoining lot apparently formerly owned by "Leonard Collins". Mr. Wilson went on to state at the hearing that the subject easement was never intended to be opened as a public right-of-way, however, the recorded subdivision plat has no such disclaimer. (See RE 21). In fact, according to the Planning

Commission's application as outlined in the Resolution of the City of Biloxi the property was an "Access Road Easement". (See RE 2).

Mr. Brinsmade objected to the vacation of the the subject road easement at the Planning Commission hearing for "public safety" reasons based upon the impact he believed the proposed action would have upon him and his property personally, as well as other lot owners in his subvision. He clearly articulated to the Commissioners that his subdivision was a "dead end" street fronting on a water body and he was concerned with his ability to evacuate during the threat of a hurricane. (See RE 19 - 20). The area suffered flooding in their home during Hurricane Katrina in 2005 and Mr. Brinsmade wanted the City to consider opening and improving the nearby "Road Acess Easement" in the adjoining subdivision to allow him and others to have another way to evacuate from the subdivision in the event of a future evacuation order for a storm. He further stated that the single road from his subdivision, Channel Mark Drive, and also from Cove Drive leads to Ruunymede Drive (formerly East Debuys Road) thus creating a traffic "bottleneck" for the approximately 94 owners (47 owners from each subdvision) to evacuate under threat of a storm. (See RE 20). Mr. Brinsmade also outlined his concerns for "public safety" about flooding caused by past hurricanes and his issues with drainage. (See RE 20). Also, Dean Wilson stated that the "Road Access Easement" served as a "narrow drainage ditch" in the past. (See RE 21).

Other than receiving "no objection" letters from the City engineer and the water, sewer, and drainage utility departments and other public utility companies, as demonstrated in the record, the Planning Commission received no input from any City department or other public agency in the form of a traffic study, analysis or comments that considered the impact the vacation of the "Road Access Easement" would have on future traffic flow or access for public safety or emergency vehicles. (See RE 5, 7-15). There are no reports or letters from the City Police or Fire Departments or Emergency

Management Director regarding these issues. The City Council stated in their Resolution the reasons they were vacating the road easement was based upon the following: 1) the road was unimproved, 2) there were no utilities in the easement, 3) the City no longer needed the property, and 4) it was not necessary for vehicular or pedestrian needs now or in the foreseeable future. (See RE 26-29).

Because Mr. Brinsmade's property was situated within 500 feet of the proposed easement to be vacated, pursuant to the City's Land Development Ordinance, Section 23-8-1(g)(2) (See RE 49), he received notice of the proceedings to vacate the unimproved road. Based upon his articulated concerns Mr. Brinsmade voiced his objection to the road closure at the hearing of the Planning Commission and in separate proceedings he filed in the Chancery Court in his jurisdiction. (See RE 19 -20 and RE 74-76).

Notwithstanding his strenuous objection, the City of Biloxi proceeded foreward to adopt a Resolution to alter the subdivision plat of Edgewater Cove. Mr. Brinsmade contended before the appellate court below (Circuit Court) that the City of Biloxi erred in vacating the Road Access Easemensit because (1) after he filed his objection the City did not have authority on its own to close the road easement and would have been required by law to file a petition with the Chancery Court to obtain a Judgment to do so; (2) the City's decision was not supported by substantial evidence and/or was arbitrary and capricious in that the City failed to consider his objection based upon "public safety" concerns; and (3) the City failed to follow its own subdivision ordinance by vacating the road easement thus creating a cul-de-sac with a subdivision road longer than the length permitted by its own standards. (See RE 55 et seq.)

The lower appellate court basically ignored the applicable statutes concerning the alteration or vacation of a subdivision plat and the easements therein and found that since Mr. Brinsmade was not an "abutting" landowner on the easement to be vacated he did not have the right to object to the closure of the thoroughfare. As requested, the Circuit Court failed to recognize the Appellant's recognized status

and the rulings of judge in the previous Chancery Court proceedings. The lower court further ruled that the City's decision was supported by substantial evidence and not arbitrary or capricious. The Court refused to consider the provisions of the City's zoning ordinance in considering whether or not the City failed to abide by the terms of its own ordinance in vacating the road easement. (See Circuit Court and Chancery Court Judgments. See RE 36-46 and 74-76).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Akbar Brinsmade contends that the lower appellate court (Circuit Court) erred as a matter of law in failing to conclude that upon recommendation of the Planning Commission the City Council for the City of Biloxi unilaterally and unlawfully vacated a portion of the Edgewater Cove Subdivision plat by closing the platted but unimproved Access Road Easement without first obtaining the written consent of Mr. Brinsmade. Mr. Brinsmade submits that he was a "named party" to the Commission's proceedings and "adversely affected or directly interested" all as provided in MCA Section 17-1-23(3) and 17-1-23(4). Lacking Mr. Brinsmade's statutory written consent, the City of Biloxi was required to file an action in the Chancery Court, name the Brinsmades as party Defendants, and obtain a judgment over his objections to vacate and close the subject road easement. See MCA Section 19-27-31, as amended. This the City of Biloxi did not do and as such, the road easement has not been lawfully vacated.

Mr. Brinsmade contends the lower court erred in finding he did not have a statutory right to object because he was not an abutting owner as provided in MCA Section 21-37-7, as amended. The lower court also held that based upon the authority granted in the aforementioned statute the City of Biloxi was not required to proceed under MCA Section 17-1-23(4). The Court erred by holding the City (and not an adjacent owner) had filed the application to close the road easement and as such, this subdivision statute did not apply. Alternatively, the circuit court judge held Mr. Brinsmade was not "adversely affected or directly interested" in the action because the road easement was not improved and in use by the public and Mr. Brinsmade's property was situated in the adjacent subdivision and he was not an "abutting owner". Mr. Brinsmade claimed the case law interpreting these statutes has made it clear that Mr. Brinsmade property does not have to abut on the road to be vacated and closed for him to be considered an "adversely affected or directly interested" party under the controlling statutes, MCA Section 17-1-23 and Section 19-27-31. Mr. Brinsmade contends that earlier cases that were decided prior to the amendments to MCA Section 17-1-23, which now provide mandatory notice and consent of certain persons before the City can act unilaterally, are no longer controlling or can be distinguished.

Mr. Brinsmade submits that he has proper "standing" to object to the City's attempt to close this platted road easement because his property was in close proximity to the easement; would be adversely impacted for "public safety" reasons; the City's own applicable ordinance required him to receive notice of the proceedings; and the City had failed to object to his standing in certain Chancery Court proceedings between the same parties involving the same issues.

Mr. Brinsmade also alleges the circuit court below failed to take judicial notice of the law, i.e. the City's zoning ordinances and mandatory judicial notice of the adjudicative facts, i.e. the Chancery Court decision. If the lower court found that it could not consider the ordinances or the Chancery Court decision it had a duty to remand the case back to the City for the record on appeal to be properly supplemented.

Mr. Brinsmade contends the lower court erred by failing to conclude the City of Biloxi's decision was not supported by substantial evidence and/or was "arbitrary and capricous". Mr. Brinsmade supports his argument by submitting 1) the City failed to follow the terms of their own ordinance and did not make findings or receiving evidence to support the ruling the road easement would not be of benefit to the Mr. Brinsmade in the future; and 2) the City failed to consider his "public safety" argument that the closure of the road easement would cause his property to be situated on a dead-end street and his access and drainage would be impaired in the future due to flooding and evacuation for hurricanes and storms.

Finally, Mr. Brinsmade contended the City authorized the closure of the access road easement in violation of its own subdivision regulations by causing the remaining subdivision streets in both

subdivisions to terminate in cul-de-sacs with a length in excess of 500 feet all contrary to the terms of the City's own ordinance. The City did this without obtaining a variance as required by law. The City directly circumvented the provisions of their own ordinances, which require publicly advertised hearings and more exacting standards for variances. A clear violation of statutory provisions providing statutory notice and certain other protections is a basis for reversal of the decision of the lower appellate court.

.

## ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: Did the lower court err in affirming the decision of the City of Biloxi to unilaterally vacate and alter the plat for the Edgewater Cove Subdivision without Chancery Court approval and in violation of the applicable statutes setting forth certain procedures for such proceedings, particularly given Mr. Brinsmade's objection to the closure of the Road Access Easement?

There is no dispute that Mr. Brinsmade made a timely objection to the closure of the Road Access Easement in the adjoining subdivision at the hearing before the City Planning Commission. It is likewise clear that he did not "agree in writing to the vacation or alteration" of the platted Road Access Easement as provided in MCA Section 17-1-23(4). The City claimed (and the lower court agreed) that 1) this paragraph of the Statute did not apply because it was intended for situations where an owner other than a municipality was seeking an alteration or vacation of a subdivision plat; and 2) alternatively, if the Statute did apply, Mr. Brinsmade consent was not required because he was not "adversely affected thereby or directly interested therein" as provided by statute. The lower court adjudicated that since Mr. Brinsmade was not an abutting owner he did not have a legal right to oppose the vacation and closure of the road easement, and even if he was not an abutting owner he did not suffer any "special injury not suffered by the general public" granting him the right to object.

The Appellant would show that the Appellate Courts of this State have not been so restrictive in their interpretation of the the applicable statutes. On the contrary, these Courts have clearly held that when municipal authorities are faced with objections of adversely affected landowners they are required to file proceedings in the Chancery Court to close a platted subdivision thoroughfare to ensure the Chancery Court Judge will consider and decide all relevant objections.

In the case of COR Developments, LLC v. College Hill Heights Homeowners, LLC, 973 So.2d 273 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) a developer attempted to file a condominium plat and construct a condominium development over a portion of the subdivision plat, which would "obliterate" several interior lot lines, affect common utility easements, and cross over a part of Adams Lane which ended in a cul-de-sac. Adams Lane was platted (but unimproved) and did not intersect with the other subdivision street, College Hill Drive, which formed a loop and only intersected with College Hill Road. Although the developer owned five of the lots fronting on Adams Lane and the objecting homeowners owned properties on a nearby non-intersecting street in the same subdivision they were apparently recognized to be "adversely affected or directly interested" as provided in MCA Section 17-1-23(4). The Court held that since these objecting landowners in the same subdivision did not receive notice and consent to the proceedings before the County Planning Commission or the Board of Supervisors to approve the condominium plat the developer could not "alter or vacate" the portion of the subdivision plat without obtaining a judgment from the Chancery Court allowing them do so. Again, the Court of Appeals did not require the objecting landowners to abut Adams Lane or the areas of the plat to be vacated.

The appellate court in the above case also held that the developer was required to follow the statutory procedures to vacate the plat, even if the platted easement, Adams Lane, has not been improved and had been alleged to be "abandoned". The Court cited MCA Section 17-1-23(3) as authority that the developer could not use the road easement, even if unopened, for purposes other provided on the plat until the plat had been vacated in the manner provided by law.

In the aforementioned decision the appellate court cited the case of **Barrett v. Ballard**, 483 So.2d 304 (Miss. 1985) as authority for mandatory compliance of the statutory procedures to alter or vacate subdivision plat. In that case the developer unlawfully attempted to alter and vacate a subdivision plat by constructing improvements over utilities that had already been installed and over streets that were

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