#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **ACKBAR F. BRINSMADE**

#### APPELLANT

NO. 2009-CA-1906

v.

THE CITY OF BILOXI

APPELLEE

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT CIVIL ACTION NO. A2402-2008-280

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

#### **SUBMITTED BY:**

LES W. SMITH , MSB LAUREN REEDER MCCRORY, MSB PAGE, MANNINO, PERESICH & MCDERMOTT POST OFFICE DRAWER 289 BILOXI, MISSISSIPPI 39533 (228) 374-2100 FAX (228) 436-5081

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED**

#

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

# II. Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4) has no applicability to the City's determination of the vacation of the Easement.

Brinsmade continues to assert as a basis of error that Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4) prohibits the City's vacation of the Easement without his written approval. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 11). Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4) provides:

*If the <u>owner</u> of any land* which shall have been laid off, mapped or platted...or subdivision...desires to alter or vacate such map or plat, or any part thereof, he may petition the board of supervisors of the county or the governing authorities of the municipality for relief...setting forth...the persons to be adversely affected thereby or directly interested therein. However, before taking such action, the parties named...must agree in writing to the vacation or alteration...

Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4)(emphasis added). By its own terms, Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4)

applies to *landowners* seeking vacation of any portion of a platted subdivision. It has no applicability whatsoever to a *municipality's* authority to vacate public ways, such as the Easement. In fact, the lower court pointed out that elsewhere *in the very same code section* specific reference is made to "governing authorities" and "municipality" rather than to owners such that it is apparent that Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4) is not intended to apply to governing authorities, but to owners of the land involved, in its requirement for obtaining written consent from other landowners. (R.

126). "The use of the differing terms is apparent in §17-1-23(3) which states:

The governing authorities of a municipality may provide that any person desiring to subdivide a tract of land within the corporate limits shall submit a map and a plat of such subdivision.... In all cases where a map or plat of the subdivision is submitted to the governing authorities of a municipality, and is by them approved, all streets, roads, alleys and other public ways set forth and shown on said map or plat shall be thereby dedicated to the public use, and shall not be used otherwise unless and until said map or plat is vacated in the manner provided by law, notwithstanding that said streets, roads, alleys, and other public ways have not been actually opened for use of the public. Any dedication pursuant to the provisions of this section, regardless of the date if the dedication, shall constitute an easement interest to the municipality in such streets, roads, alleys and other public ways, including the right to maintain such easement, and shall not constitute a conveyance of the underlying fee title. Subject to the easement interest dedicated to the municipality, abutting landowners shall hold fee title to the centerline of the said street, road or public way."

Id. Clearly, Miss. Code Ann. § 17-1-23(4) does not apply when a municipality seeks to vacate a road

access easement. Rather, Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 gives a municipality explicit authority to

vacate the Easement:

The governing authorities of municipalities shall have the power to close and vacate any street, or alley or any portion thereof. No street or alley or any portion thereof shall be closed or vacated, however, except upon *due compensation being first made* to the abutting land owners upon such street or alley for all damages sustained thereby.

Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 (emphasis added). Notably, Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 does not contain

language concerning "interested persons or persons adversely affected," which is the language

Brinsmade relies on in §17-1-23(4). Because the City of Biloxi, a municipality, vacated the Easement as opposed to an actual landowner, there was no need for Brinsmade to assent to anything before the Easement could be vacated. Brinsmade was simply not an abutting landowner. In fact, Brinsmade's property is not even in the same subdivision of the Easement. In explaining the predecessor to Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7, the Mississippi Supreme Court has provided:

"Where full power is granted to the authorities of a municipality to vacate streets, they may act upon their own motion, and a petition of the property owners as a basis for the proceeding is not necessary in the absence of a statute requiring it. 44 C.J., p.902, Municipal Corporations, par.3641; 64 C.J.S., Municipal Corporations, § 1671; *Curtiss v. Charlevoix Golf Ass 'n*, 178 Mich. 50, 144 N.W. 818. In those jurisdictions where the statutes require that notice of the intention of the governing authorities of the municipality to vacate a street be given to interested parties, the courts have held that only abutting property owners or persons having a legal right to compensation are entitled to notice. 44 C.J., p. 902. And the general rules is that only those who sustain some special or peculiar injury, differing in kind and not merely in degree from that sustained by the general public are entitled to complain of a vacation. 25 Am.Jur., p. 420, Highways, par. 123."

*Puyper v. Pure Oil Co.*, 60 So.2d 569, 574 (Miss. 1952)(emphasis added). Brinsmade now attempts to argue that *Puyper* is not applicable in this circumstance because there has since been another statute enacted, namely §17-1-23(4), which requires notice and consent from "adversely affected and diversely interested" parties. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 16). This notion is inaccurate. Once again, §17-1-23(4) applies to landowners, while Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 expressly gives municipalities authority to vacate a road access easement. If municipalities were required to proceed under §17-1-23(4) as a landowner, then there would be no need for Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7.

Brinsmade further asserts that Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 applies only to "non-subdivision" streets, yet he cites absolutely no relevant authority for this assertion. In fact, the interplay between §17-1-23(3) concerning the closing of roads within subdivisions and the authority provided municipalities by Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 was addressed in a 1999 Mississippi Attorney

General's Opinion. See MS AG Op., Stark (October 15, 1999). The Stark Opinion recognizes that the applicability of Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 is not affected by the fact that the street is located in a platted subdivision. Id. See also MS AG Op., Hewes (September 4, 1979). The Attorney General's Office went on to opine that "Section 21-37-7 contains no requirement that notice of any kind be provided to abutting landowners... ." Obviously, if notice is not required to be given, even to landowners who have a statutorily defined interest in the closure of a road, then the City of Biloxi is not required to gain assent of a non-abutting landowner such as Mr. Brinsmade before taking action.

Here, the action complained of was taken by a municipality, not a landowner. All abutting property owners consented to the vacation. (R. 50, 61). Accordingly, §17-1-23(4), which has no applicability to the City's vacation of the Easement, cannot provide a basis for error.

# III. Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31 has no applicability to the City's determination of the vacation of the Easement.

Brinsmade also argues, in the alternative, that if the City was not required to proceed under

§17-1-23(4), then it was required to proceed under Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31 which provides:

If the owner of any land which shall have been laid off, mapped, or platted as a city, town or village, or addition thereto, or subdivision thereof, or other platted area, ..., shall be desirous of altering or vacating such map or plat, or any part thereof, he may, under oath, petition the chancery court for relief in the premises, setting forth...the names of the persons to be adversely affected thereby, or directly interested therein. The parties so named shall be made defendants thereto, and publication of summons shall be made..

Brinsmade argues that the only other manner through which the City would be able to vacate the Easement would be through Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31 which allows the *landowner* to petition the chancery court for vacation of an easement within a subdivision. Much like §17-1-23(4), Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31 has no applicability whatsoever to a *municipality's* authority to vacate public ways,

such as the Easement. Rather, Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7 gives a municipality explicit authority to vacate the Easement. In his Brief, Brinsmade cites cases, namely *COR Developments, LLC v. College Hill Heights Homeowners*, LLC, 973 So.2d 273 (Miss. App. 2008); *Barrett v. Ballard*, 483 So.2d 304 (Miss. 1985); and *Niefeldt v. Grand Oaks Communities, LLC*, 987 So.2d 1043 (Miss. App. 2008) in which a *landowner or developer* sought to vacate or alter part of a subdivision plat under Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31. (Appellant's Brief, pgs. 12-14). A cursory review of these cases show that Brinsmade's authority is easily distinguishable. Brinsmade fails to cite any authority whatsoever for the proposition that a *municipality* <u>must</u> proceed under Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31.

Brinsmade also cites *City of Wiggins v. Breaseale*, 422 So.2d 270 (Miss. 1982) as authority for his position although it is unclear why. In *City of Wiggins*, the Mississippi Supreme Court considered a case in which a landowner sought to vacate parts of a street. *Id.* The landowner filed suit in Chancery Court against the municipality. *Id.* The Mississippi Supreme Court simply held that a municipality does not have *exclusive* jurisdiction to vacate an easement. *Id.* In other words, the Chancery Court also has jurisdiction to vacate an easement pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 19-27-31. *Id.* Thus, a municipality has *concurrent* jurisdiction with a chancery court for the purpose of closing an vacating streets and alleys. *Id.* The City does not maintain that it had exclusive jurisdiction in this instance. The City simply exercised its authority pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 21-37-7, which *City of Wiggins* clearly allows it to do.

# IV. Even if the City was required to proceed under §17-1-23(4) or § 19-27-31, which it clearly is not, Brinsmade is not a person adversely affected or directly interested in the vacation of the Easement.

Brinsmade has not nor can he provide any authority for the definition of "persons to be adversely affected thereby or directly interested therein." There are cases which while considering closing or vacating streets and addressing abutting landowners, do expand the category of owners

-8-

invloved to others who might be adversely affected or damaged. In *City of Jackson v. Welch*, 101 So. 361 (Miss. 1924), the Mississippi Supreme Court provided:

In order for a landowner to have a just complaint against the abandonment or closing of an abutting street, he must have a special easement in the use of a street in connection with his property for access purposes; that is, he must be specifically damaged in connection with an outlet and inlet to his property, otherwise, he has no more interest in the street than that enjoyed by the general public for travel, and cannot prevent its closing by the owners or public authorities.

*Id.* at 362. *See also Puyper* at 574. There is nothing in the record to indicate in any way that Brinsmade would be adversely affected by or directly interested in vacating the Easement. His property does not abut the Easement. The Easement is not used as an ingress or egress for his property. There is no claim that the value of his property has been or will be affected. He cannot establish any special injury different from that of the general public. Instead, he argues that he was adversely affected and/or directly interested because his property was "in close proximity to" the Easement, and that he was concerned how the road closure would affect his property because of lack of adequate evacuation routes. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 18). Even if §17-1-23(4) or § 19-27-31 were applicable, which they clearly are not, Brinsmade has not and cannot show that he was adversely affected or directly interested in the vacation of the Easement.

Brinsmade cites *Fleming v. Miss. State Hwy. Comm.*, 135 So.2d 821 (Miss. 1962) and *Hamilton v. Miss. State Hwy. Comm.*, 70 So.2d 856 (Miss. 1954) to show that "non-abutting" landowners can recover special damages in certain situations, however *Fleming* only shows that an *abutting* landowner may recover damages. (Appellant's Brief, pg. 17). Hamilton is also distinguishable because Brinsmade has made no showing that he has an interest in the vacation of the Easement separate from that of the general public.

-9-

In addition, Brinsmade asserts that because the City did not object to his status as adversely affected or interested person in the Chancery Court proceedings in 2008, then the City should be collaterally estopped from challenging his status on appeal. No matter how Brinsmade seeks to stretch his position, the fact of the matter is that the Bill of Exceptions constitutes the record on appeal and the circuit court <u>cannot</u> consider matters not a part of that record. *See Wilkinson County Bd. Of Supervisors v. Quality Farms, Inc.*, 767 So.2d 1007 (Miss. 2000); *Stewart v. City of Pascagoula*, 206 So.2d 325 (Miss. 1968). The extent that the Circuit Court may review evidence is limited to such evidence that has been included in the bill of exceptions. *See Van Meter v. Greenwood*, 724 So.2d 925 (Miss. 1998)(holding the circuit court can only consider the case as made by the bill of exceptions); *Beasley v. Neely*, 911 So.2d 603, 607 (Miss. App. 2005)(providing that "Mississippi's long-standing law declares that the bill of exceptions serves as the record on appeal"). Because the chancery court proceedings were not included in the Bill of Exceptions, it cannot be considered on appeal.

# V. The lower court did not err in holding that it could not be said the City failed to consider public safety or that its actions in this regard were arbitrary and capricious.

Brinsmade also argues that the lower court erred as a matter of law by holding that it could not be said the City failed to consider public safety or that its actions were arbitrary and capricious. Although the City still maintains that this issue should not be considered because it was not raised in the original Notice of Appeal or Bill of Exceptions, the lower court found that Brinsmade raised the issue at the Commission Hearing, the transcript of which is part of the Bill of Exceptions. (R. at 130). At the hearing, Brinsmade voiced concern that the Easement would provide another means for evacuation from his neighborhood in the event of a hurricane. (R.65). Brinsmade, however, has it had considered public safety in reaching its decision, or that the City was required to obtain traffic studies or reports regarding safety in this regard. As the lower court points out in its opinion, the Resolution reflects that the City was made aware of the particulars of the case and that its action was taken "upon careful reflection of the particulars of this case." (R. at 42). While the Resolution does not specifically address public safety, it does make clear that it considered all information which would have included Brinsmade's public safety concerns. Thus, it cannot be found that the lower court erred in holding the City's actions in this regard were not arbitrary or capricious.

# VI. The lower court did not err in not considering the issue of whether the City violated its rules and ordinances.

The lower court did not err in not considering the issue of whether the City violated its rules and ordinances in reference to the vacating of the Easement which created streets which were longer in length than permitted by its own ordinances. Brinsmade's original Notice of Appeal and Bill of Exceptions does not raise this issue. Where an issue is not asserted in a bill of exceptions, the issue is barred from review. *Falco Lime v. Mayor of Vicksburg*, 836 So.2d 711, 727 (Miss. 2002)("[n]either the original nor corrected bill of exceptions filed in this case raises any issue regarding constitutionality...the issue is procedurally barred").

Even if the issue had been raised in the Bill of Exceptions, which it was not, the Appellant relies upon a City of Biloxi Land Development Ordinance which was not included in the Bill of Exceptions. "It has long been settled in this State that the courts do not and cannot take judicial knowledge on municipal contracts and ordinances." *Stewart v. City of Pascagoula*, 206 So.2d 325, 327 (Miss. 1968). Because the Ordinance may not be considered, Brinsmade's assertion, even it were not procedurally barred, would be a moot point. Even if the Court were to consider Brinsmade's argument, Brinsmade argues that because an unopened easement in a subdivision

-11-

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